IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT NO. _____

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 74617-1

LAWRENCE HILL, ADAM WISE, and ROBERT MILLER,
on their own behalves and on behalf of all persons similarly situated,

Plaintiffs/Respondents

v.

GARDA CL NORTHWEST, INC., f/k/a AT SYSTEMS, INC.

Defendant/Appellant

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF APPELLANT GARDA

GARDA CL NORTHWEST, INC., f/k/a AT SYSTEMS, INC.

CATHARINE MORISSET, WSBA # 29682
CLARENCE BELNAVIS, WSBA # 36681
ALEX WHEATLEY, WSBA # 50190
Fisher & Phillips LLP
1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2750
Seattle, Washington 98101
Tel. (206) 682-2308
Fax (206) 682-7908
Attorneys for Appellant Garda CL Northwest, Inc.

I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Garda CL Northwest, Inc., f/k/a AT Systems, Inc. (“Garda”) seeks review of Division I Court of Appeals’ post-trial opinion designated in Part II (“Opinion”) (Copy in Appx_0004). Garda’s Washington armored truck personnel (Drivers) brought a class action alleging unpaid wages for missed meal and rest breaks. Through various collective bargaining agreements (CBAs), the Drivers agreed to waive off-duty meal breaks or request an off duty meal from their supervisor. Facts also showed that Drivers received intermittent rest breaks, i.e., periods of relief from the mental and physical exertions of active duty. Yet the Court of Appeals decided liability, all factual issues as a matter law, largely based on *Pellino v. Brink’s, Inc.*, 164 Wn. App. 668 (2011) (decided during the pendency of this case), and thus created an unclear standard for the level of mental relief required in order for a break to be valid. This alone warrants this Court’s review. But it also held as a matter of first impression, that the mere possibility of a break variance was enough to avoid Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act (49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1)) (“FAAA”) preemption even when the states’ break requirements have an impermissible significant impact on a carrier’s routes and services. To avoid 29 U.S.C. § 185 (§ 301) preemption the Court of Appeals also held, that it need not interpret the CBAs to determine the

validity – or even meaning – of the waivers, instead holding that waivers were legally altogether invalid. When it did so, it overlooked the fundamental right to collectively bargain waivable rights and RCW 49.12.187’s mandate that Chapter 49.12 RCW “shall not be construed to interfere with, impede, or in any way diminish the right of employees to bargain collectively . . . concerning wages or standards or conditions of employment,” and the crucial tenet that a state’s labor standards must neither encourage nor discourage collective bargaining. *See Metropolitan Life v. Mass.*, 471 U.S. 724, 755 (1985). And finally, its holding that a failure to provide unpaid, off-duty meal breaks was both a labor and wage violation, even though Drivers had been already compensated for on-duty meal breaks, was inconsistent with *Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc.*, 146 Wn.2d 841 (2002) and *Iverson v. Snohomish County*, 117 Wn. App. 618 (2003). This Court should accept review for these reasons.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Garda seeks review of *Hill v. Garda CL Nw., Inc.*, 198 Wn. App. 326 (2017) (published) (“Opinion”), copy in Appendix at 4-26.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether this Court should accept review when the Opinion improperly held that rest period liability could be decided as matter of law, conflicting with clear precedent emphasizing the factual nature of this inquiry and with on-call meal period principles as discussed in *White v. Salvation Army*, 118 Wn.App. 272 (2003), resulting in an unclear

standard as to the level of mental relief from work required in order for a rest or meal period to be valid. (RAP 13.4(b)(2) & (4)).

2. Whether this Court should accept review when the Opinion created a new rule that a potential rest or meal period variance avoids FAAA preemption, even though it also found that a “vigilance free” break requirement would have “significant impacts on [Garda’s] routes [to] likely warrant a finding of preemption.” (RAP 13.4 (b)(3) and (4)).
3. Whether this Court should accept review when the Opinion’s holding that meal period waivers may only be individually negotiated conflicts with RCW 49.12.187 and long recognized principle that waivable rights may be collectively bargained and that state law may not encourage or discourage this process. *See Metropolitan Life v. Mass.*, 471 U.S. 724, 755 (1985). (RAP 13.4 (b)(3) and (4)).
4. Whether this Court should accept review when the Opinion overlooked that resolution of the Drivers’ claims substantially depends on the interpretation of the CBAs’ “on-duty” meal period provisions, and thus § 301 preemption barred these claims under long standing precedent, *see e.g., Teamsters Local 174 v. Lucas Flour Co.*, 369 U.S. 95, 103-04 (1962). (RAP 13.4 (b)(3) and (4)).
5. Whether this Court should accept review when the Opinion’s new rule that a failure to provide unpaid, off-duty meal breaks is a “wage” violation, even though employees were already compensated for on-duty meal breaks, is inconsistent with both *Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc.*, 146 Wn. 2d. 841 (2002) and *Iverson v. Snohomish County*, 117 Wn. App. 618 (2003). (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4)).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

For the purpose of transporting currency and other valuables to/from Washington customers, Garda operates seven branches: Seattle, Mount Vernon, Tacoma, Yakima, Wenatchee, Spokane, and Pasco.¹ Each

¹CP 313, CP 1405 (9:17-21), CP 1408 (8:7-20), and 1414 (11:22-12:1).

truck has an armed, two person crew consisting of a driver and messenger. The class comprises such current and former crewmembers (“Drivers”)²

A separate branch manager operates each Washington branch, helped by other supervisors in larger branches, although Wenatchee and Yakima share common management.³ Each branch also has its own drivers association made of employees, who negotiates its Labor Agreement (CBA) and ratifies them. Most Drivers also signed **individual** acknowledgments of their CBAs, such as:

I acknowledge that by signing this Agreement, I agree to its terms and conditions...I have signed this form freely and voluntarily.⁴

As specified in varied CBA provisions, the Drivers agreed to remain on-duty through their meal period and receive compensation, with the option of requesting an off-duty meal period at any time:

- “The Employees hereto waive any meal period(s) to which they would otherwise be entitled...Employees may take an unpaid meal period if they make arrangements with their...or provide their supervisor with a written request to renounce the on-duty meal period[.]”⁵
- “Employees hereto agree to an on-duty meal period. Employees may have an off duty meal period if they make arrangements with their supervisor...or provide their supervisors with a written request to renounce the on-duty meal period[.]”⁶

²CP 3807-08, Findings of Fact Nos. 2, 9.

³CP 1741 (14:17-25).

⁴CP 549. Other CBA Acknowledgments at: CP 404, 424-25, 468, 488-89, 526-27, 568-69, 614, 635, 659, 1153, 1176.

⁵CP 1162.

⁶CP 1140.

- “[R]outes will be scheduled without a designated lunch break thus employees will not be docked for the same. In the event a truck crew...wishes to schedule a non-paid lunch break, they must notify their supervisor.”⁷

In accordance with these agreements, Garda compensated the Drivers for each and every meal period as part of their regular pay.⁸

Regarding rest breaks, because of the nature of the work – transporting valuables in an armored truck while carrying firearms – the Drivers must exercise a level of alertness during times outside a Garda facility, to both guard the truck and for personal and public safety.⁹ Nevertheless, as Garda managers and Drivers testified by deposition or declaration, Drivers consistently received relief from active duty and engaged in personal activities during breaks.¹⁰ Such breaks ranged from 3-4 minute bathroom breaks, 5-10 minute smoke breaks, and 10-15 minute food shopping breaks.¹¹ Many Drivers confirmed it was their “personal choice” as to how to use this break time.¹²

B. Procedural History

Even though the CBAs contained an exclusive Grievance

⁷CP 454.

⁸See CP 315:8-18.

⁹See, e.g., CP 1791.

¹⁰Managers: CP 2966:1-5; CP 3116 (221:3-20). Employees: CP 744, 777-78, 819-20, 822-23, 834-35, 837-38, 1831, 1838, 1864, 1893, 1904, 1908, 1940, 1956-59, 1996-97, 2000-03, 2011-12, 3034, 3115-16, 3143-46, 3177-3302, 3116.

¹¹See, e.g., CP 776, 829, 831-32.

¹²CP 786, 817, 823.

Procedure for complaints about any CBA term or labor condition,¹³ the Drivers never filed any grievances related to breaks. Instead, the Drivers filed a class action in 2009 alleging unpaid wages for missed meal and rest periods.¹⁴ Specifically, they alleged they did not receive rest and meal periods because Garda's "written policy or rule," i.e. the CBAs, required crew members to remain "on-duty" during meal and rest breaks.¹⁵ The trial court granted both class certification and Garda's Motion to Compel Arbitration.¹⁶ The Drivers appealed the latter, and this Court reversed.¹⁷

On remand, despite the agreements to waive meal periods, the Drivers summarily dismissed them, asserting that Washington law prohibits meal period waivers from being collectively bargained.¹⁸ The Drivers then focused on a so-called "constant vigilance" policy, claiming it "necessarily means that they have been deprived of the requisite rest and meal breaks."¹⁹ They moved for partial summary judgment on liability as a matter of law, which the trial court granted, relying primarily on *Pellino v. Brink's, Inc.*, 164 Wn. App. 668 (2011), which had been decided during

¹³Found in Art. 4 or 5 of the CBA: CP 389-90, 411-12, 432-33, 453-54, 476-77, 514-515, 534-35, 556-57, 577-78, 599-600, 621-22, 644-645. The Spokane 2007 CBA "Work Rules" did not provide for a Grievance Procedure or contain individual acknowledgments, but its 2008-2011 Labor Agreement provides both. CP 497-528.

¹⁴CP 3.

¹⁵CP 5, ¶ 17.

¹⁶CP 932.

¹⁷*Hill v. Garda CL NW, Inc.*, 179 Wn.2d 47 (2013).

¹⁸*See, e.g.*, CP 1184:8-1186:11.

¹⁹CP 2757:16-20.

the pendency of the first appeal to this Court.²⁰ In reaching this result, the trial court also denied several of Garda's other challenges, including that the FAAA or § 301 preempted the Guard's claims, the Drivers waived their right to off-duty meal breaks through the CBAs, the waivers showed the Drivers' intended to waive meal breaks, and the Drivers were not entitled to double damages under RCW 49.52.070.²¹

The bench trial on damages concluded September 22, 2015.²² The trial court concluded there was no bona fide dispute regarding liability after *Pellino* was issued, and the Drivers did not "knowingly submit" to any meal period violation because waivers could not be collectively bargained as a matter of law. It also concluded that Garda must pay double damages under RCW 49.52.070 from November 20, 2011 (a couple of weeks following the issuance of *Pellino*) through trial,²³ it awarded prejudgment interest, costs, and attorney fees using a lodestar estimate.²⁴

Garda filed a timely appeal.²⁵ The Court of Appeals held that (1) the trial court did not abuse its discretion in certifying the class; (2) the FAAA did not preempt the case; (3) an employee's right to meal periods is both independent and nonnegotiable, so § 301 did not preempt the case;

²⁰CP 2743, CP 3352.

²¹CP 972.

²²See VRP 9/22/2015, 63.

²³CP 3810-11, Findings of Fact Nos. 18, 20.

²⁴CP 3821, Conclusions of Law Nos. 27, 29. Order at CP 4184-95.

²⁵CP 4159.

(4) the Drivers' acknowledgments of their CBA were also not valid waivers; (5) Garda violated the rest period requirements; (6) failing to provide meal breaks was a wage violation, not just a labor violation, but Garda's conduct was not willful so double damages related to meal periods was not appropriate; (7) as matter of apparent first impression, the award of prejudgment interest on top of double damages for rest period violations was inappropriate; and (8) the Drivers were entitled to a 1.5 lodestar multiplier for the attorney fees award. Opinion at 9-10.

Garda now petitions this Court to accept review.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Determining Rest Period Liability as a Matter of Law Failed to Reconcile *Pellino* and *White* and Created an Unclear Standard as to the Level of Mental Relief Required for a Valid Break.

The Opinion conflicts with both Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent because in deciding the rest period issue as a matter of law, instead of fact, it failed to reconcile *Pellino v. Brink's Inc.*, 164 Wn. App. 668, 690 (2011) and *White v. Salvation Army*, 118 Wn.App. 272, 284 (2003). Specifically, by deciding that a written policy requiring employees remain alert is enough by itself to constitute work, the Opinion leaves it unclear what circumstances would give rise to an issue of fact. The Opinion found that Garda's policies "were not as extreme" as those in *Pellino* (Opinion at 29), yet it still decided rest period liability as a matter

of law, when *Pellino* decided it as an issue of fact decided after a trial on the merits. *Pellino*, 164 Wn. App at 676. It thus appears to overrule *Pellino*'s holding that rest period liability is generally an issue of fact.

While the Opinion acknowledges *White*, it also seems to overlook its holding that an "on-call rest period," is a valid rest period. In reversing summary judgment in favor of employees, *White* found the evidence gave "excellent examples" that

"being on call is not inconsistent with being relieved from one's normal work duties. . . . Workers on all shifts were also allowed to eat, rest, make personal telephone calls, attend to personal business that would not take them away from the facility, and close the door to the office in order to make themselves unavailable."

White, 118 Wn. App. at 283-84. (Emphasis added). The evidence described above is the very type of evidence Garda introduced.²⁶ Yet despite this and other evidence that managers deliberately arranged routes to allow for rest periods, the Opinion held – as a matter of law - that the Drivers received no "meaningful breaks," due to its own interpretation of, and the simple existence of, written policies. Opinion at 19.

Leaving this holding in place will leave employers operating in Washington the untenable position of not knowing when breaks are legally sufficient – the cases now suggest that an on-call rest period is compliant, but also that, as a matter of law, that an employer must police its

²⁶ See CP 2999-3000 and exhibits cited therewith.

employees to ensure they give no thought to work duties during breaks. This Court should accept review to reconcile *Pellino* and *White* and clarify the standard.

B. This Court Should Accept Review because the Opinion's New Rule that the Mere Possibility of a Variance Avoids FAAA Preemption Affects the Public Interest and Conflicts with U.S. Supreme Court Precedent.

This Court should also accept review because the Opinion conflicts with the FAAA's express preemption provision and United States Supreme Court precedent. Additionally, the Opinion's new rule regarding the meal and rest period variance process will have a substantial impact on the public interest, further weighing in favor of review.

The FAAA, by its plain terms, preempts any state law that is related to a motor carriers' prices, routes, or services. Specifically, it mandates: a "State . . . may not enact or enforce a law, regulation, or other provision" that is indirectly or directly related a price, route, or service of any motor carrier. 49 U.S.C. § 14501(c)(1); *Rowe v. New Hampshire Motor Transp. Assn.*, 552 U.S. 364, 370 (2008). The test is broad: preemption applies to state laws that have even an indirect "connection with or reference to" prices, routes, or services. *Rowe*, 552 U.S. at 370.

Below, Garda set forth a number of ways that the "vigilance-free" break requirement that the Drivers' sought to impose would have an

impermissible significant impact on its routes and services. Indeed, the Opinion acknowledged that the vigilance-free breaks had a connection to Garda's routes, prices, and services, and even acknowledged that "such significant impacts on [Garda's] routes would likely warrant a finding of preemption under the Act." Opinion at 14. Nonetheless, the Opinion concluded there was no preemption because Garda could have sought a variance under RCW 49.12.105. Opinion at 13, 15.

There is no legal support for the proposition that the potential availability of a variance obviates the FAAA's preemptive effect, and the Opinion's conclusion that it must be the case when there is no specific contrary authority is not well-reasoned. The Opinion's holding directly contradicts the statute's plain language, which requires only a "connection" between the state law and the routes, prices, or services, not a "conflict." The fact that a carrier must obtain a variance or violate break rules actually proves the connection between state law and its routes, prices, or services, and, underscores FAAA preemption. In sum, if the FAAA preempts state law, it is unenforceable regardless whether there is a potential alternative available at an administrative agency's discretion.

Not only does the variance procedure do nothing to change the connection between the rest break laws and Garda's routes, prices, or services, but it also does not even remove the conflict. The Opinion

acknowledged that a variance is not guaranteed. Opinion at 14 (“these bases **would likely** qualify as good cause”) (emphasis added). Then, it seems to suggest that a motor carrier can raise FAAA preemption only after it is denied the variance: “If Washington law creates a problem for Garda, it is logical to look to Washington law for a solution before finding federal preemption.” Opinion at 15. This result is impractical. Namely, that a motor carrier should apply for a variance, and if denied, wait to raise FAAA preemption after its employees sue. Such an uncertain result should not remain law. This Court should accept review.

C. This Court Should Accept Review Because the Opinion’s New Rule that Meal Period Waivers May Only Be Individually Negotiated Contradicts RCW 49.12.187’s Mandate and Long Recognized Federal Labor Law Principles.

It is black letter law that “[t]he right of collective bargaining is a fundamental right of employees.” *NLRB v. Lettie Lee, Inc.*, 140 F.2d 243, 248 (9th Cir. 1944). The National Labor Relations Act purposefully protects the rights of employees to collectively bargain. *See generally* 29 U.S.C. § 151. It is thus well-settled that it preempts any state law that either conflicts with its underlying goals and policies or stands “as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives” of Congress. *Livadas v. Bradshaw*, 512 U.S. 107, 120 (1994) (internal quotation omitted). In other words, a state’s labor standards must

neither encourage nor discourage collective bargaining. *Metropolitan Life v. Mass.*, 471 U.S. 724, 755 (1985); *Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. United Food & Comm. Workers Int'l Union*, 190 Wn. App. 14, 21 (2015) (citation omitted). Consistent with these principles, RCW 49.12.187 specifically mandates that Chapter 49.12 RCW,

shall not be construed to interfere with, impede, or in any way diminish the right of employees to bargain collectively . . . concerning wages or standards or conditions of employment.

Yet the Court of Appeals violated this mandate when it held “Washington does not allow most private employees to waive their right to a meal period through a CBA.” Opinion at 17.

The Opinion’s reasoning – attempting to show that the state only gave this right to public employees - was flawed. The Opinion correctly acknowledges that nonnegotiable state rights may not be collectively bargained. It next cites law explaining that a right is “nonnegotiable if the state **does not permit it to be waived** . . . by private agreement.” *Miller v. AT&T Network Sys.*, 850 F.2d 543, 546 (9th Cir. 1988) (Emphasis added). The Opinion next notes that meal periods **are** waivable under Washington law if both the employer and employee agree, i.e., waivable by private agreement. Opinion at 15. *See also Pellino*, 164 Wn. App. at 697. Nevertheless, it concludes: “[The Drivers’] state right to meal periods is . . . nonnegotiable.” Opinion at 17.

To bolster this flawed reasoning, the Opinion finds that Labor & Industries' meal period guidance emphasizes "individual choice" over collective bargaining, simply because the guidance requires that a meal period waiver can be revoked. Yet the Court of Appeal's rationale is hostile to the collective bargaining process itself:

Even if the CBA allowed employees to revoke the (meal period) waiver, having the remainder of the workforce agree to the waiver could put pressure on the individual employees to not revoke their waivers [.]

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