FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/13/2017 3:32 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 94593-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LAWRENCE HILL, ADAM WISE, and ROBERT MILLER, on behalf of themselves and all persons similarly situated

Plaintiffs/Respondents/Cross-Petitioners,

v.

GARDA CL NORTHWEST, INC., f/k/a AT SYSTEMS, INC. a Washington Corporation

Defendant/Petitioner

ANSWER AND CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW

Daniel F. Johnson, WSBA No. 27848 BRESKIN JOHNSON & TOWNSEND PLLC 1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3670 Seattle, Washington 98104

Phone: (206) 652-8660 Fax: (206) 652-8290

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

All of the other Labor Agreements—covering a vast majority of the class—do not say the employees waive their meal breaks. Instead, some of those agreements provide for an "unscheduled" meal period, while the others provide for an "on duty" meal period. **See* Appellant's Appendix. There is no evidence that any employee or association has ever negotiated with Garda about its meal and rest break policies or practices.

IV. ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. The Court Of Appeals Did Not "Fail to Reconcile" Its Own Decisions In *Pellino* And *White v. Salvation Army*.

Garda contends the Court of Appeals "failed to reconcile" *Pellino* v. *Brink's*, *Inc.*, 164 Wn. App. 668, 267 P.3d 383 (2011), and *White* v. *Salvation Army*, 118 Wn. App. 272, 75 P.3d 990 (2003). Pet. at 8. However, the court did distinguish *White*, in this case and in *Pellino*. *Hill*

⁴ The agreements also purport to permit employees to take an "off-duty" meal period if they "make arrangements with their supervisors in advance." *See* Appellant's Appendix. It is undisputed that no class member has ever received an "off-duty" meal period.

5

.

v. Garda CL NW., Inc., 198 Wn. App. 326, 356 (2016); Pellino, 164 Wn. App. at 691.⁵ As the court noted in Pellino, White held that requiring employees to be on call during rest breaks does not violate the rest break requirement so long as the breaks truly offer "relief from work or exertion." Pellino, 164 Wn. App. at 691 (quoting White, 118 Wn. App. at 283). However, armored vehicle crews who must remain constantly on guard are not merely "on call" and are not relieved from work or exertion. Id. at 692. The inconsistency imagined by Garda does not exist and offers no basis for this Court's review.

Garda also contends the Court of Appeals contradicted *Pellino* itself, by deciding Plaintiffs' rest break claim as a matter of law, "when *Pellino* decided it as an issue of fact." Pet. at 9. Garda misunderstands summary judgment; cases can and should be decided as a matter of law where, as here, there is no genuine dispute about material facts. In affirming, the Court of Appeals pointed to Garda's unequivocal written policies that require constant vigilance and prohibit personal activities and the explicit admission of Garda's designee that crews always had to remain alert and on guard for threats to themselves and Garda's property. *See Hill*, 198 Wn. App. at 356; CP 2966-67; *see also Hill* at 358 (because

⁵ This Court has also referred to both cases and found no inconsistency. *Demetrio* v. *Sakuma Bros. Farms, Inc.*, 183 Wash. 2d 649, 658, 355 P.3d 263 (2015).

Garda conceded it did not provide vigilance-free breaks, "the trial court did not have to weigh evidence").

Garda refers the Court to anecdotal testimony that crew members sometimes managed to eat, drink, text, smoke, or make calls while on duty, which Garda characterizes as "intermittent rest breaks." Pet. at 1, 9 n.26. Yet Garda admitted these hurried activities did not alter the requirement of being constantly alert and on guard against threats, which is contrary to "relief from work or exertion." See CP 2999 n.4. Furthermore, it is undisputed that any class members who managed to engage in such "personal activities" were acting against Garda's rules, and "if employees may take meaningful breaks only by violating the company's official policies, Garda has still created a culture that discourages meaningful breaks." Hill, 198 Wn. App. at 358; see also Pellino, 164 Wn. App. at 686 ("the fact that drivers and messengers were able to eat while the truck was in motion or that drivers could eat while the messenger was making a pick up or delivery does not mean that they received lawful breaks.") (quoting trial court findings); *Brady v. Autozone* Stores, Inc., - Wn.2d - , No. 93564-5, slip op. at 7-9 (June 29, 2017) (adopting *Pellino*'s holding that the rules impose a "mandatory obligation" on employers to provide breaks).

The Court of Appeals properly considered the facts and concluded, like the trial court, they led to only one reasonable conclusion.

B. There Is No "New Rule" Or Conflict Arising From Denial Of Garda's FAAAA Preemption Defense.

Garda asks this Court to review the lower courts' rejection of its affirmative defense of federal preemption under the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act, or "F4A." It claims the rulings below conflict with settled law and have "a substantial impact on the public interest," though Garda fails to support the latter assertion. As for the former, Garda fails to mention that the "settled law" in the Ninth Circuit—which is not contradicted in any other circuit—unequivocally rejects F4A preemption of rest and meal break laws. *Dilts v. Penske Logistics, LLC*, 769 F.3d 637, 647 (9th Cir. 2014) ("we have in the past confronted close cases [under the F4A and] we do not think that this is one of them"). 6

In the courts below, Garda attempted to distinguish *Dilts*, saying its own unique security concerns made vigilance-free breaks impossible. *See Hill*, 198 Wn. App. at 346.⁷ But *Dilts* was not limited to the particular

⁶ Notably, Garda did not even think to raise an F4A preemption defense until December 2014, nearly six years after this lawsuit had been filed, and even after *Dilts* had been decided. CP 1273.

⁷ As Garda points out, the Court of Appeals initially appeared to agree with its assertion that providing breaks would have a "significant impact" on its services, 198 Wn. App. at 346, but the court went on to find Garda failed to distinguish *Dilts*, and that the impacts of providing breaks "are not significant enough to warrant preemption." *Id.* at 348. The court also correctly noted: (1) the proponent

facts presented; it broadly rejected F4A preemption of meal and rest break laws, finding that these are not the type of laws the F4A was intended to preempt. *Dilts* also questioned whether a court *could* hold that "federal law preempts state law when applied to certain parties, but not to others." *Dilts*, 769 F.3d at 648 n.2 (quoting *Cal. Tow Truck Ass'n v. City of San Francisco*, 693 F.3d 847, 865 (9th Cir. 2012)). This issue remains open in the federal courts, *see Valadez v. CSX Intermodal Terminals, Inc.*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 66923, at *14 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 10, 2017), which makes this a particularly poor ground upon which to grant review.

The Court of Appeals also held that Garda could not prove that providing rest and meal breaks would significantly impact its services because it had not taken advantage of the option to obtain a variance from meal and rest break rules under RCW 49.12.105. *Hill*, 198 Wn. App. at 346-47. It noted that at least one of Garda's competitors had already obtained such a variance, allowing workers to take breaks from all work duties except vigilance against threats. *Id.* at 347; CP 4281-86.

Garda seeks review of this portion of the decision, claiming there is "no legal support" for the court's reliance on a variance procedure to

of preemption bears the burden of establishing it; (2) there is "a strong presumption against preemption" of state labor laws; and (3) general workplace rules that have only indirect connection to a carrier's relations with its customers are generally not preempted, even if they have some effect on prices, routes or services. *Id.* at 343-44 (citations omitted).

avoid preemption. Pet. at 11. But in fact there is: *Dunbar Armored, Inc. v. Rea*, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 31685, *18 (S.D. Cal. July 8, 2004), rejected an armored car company's F4A challenge to California's rest break law (prior to *Dilts*) because, under that law, the employer could apply for an exemption. Thus, "it is possible for [Dunbar] to comply with the Regulations without altering its operation to the drastic extent projected." *Id.* As the Court of Appeals noted, it is Garda that "cites no authority for [its] position." *Hill*, 198 Wn. App. at 348. There is no basis for this Court to accept review of Garda's F4A preemption defense.

C. Garda's Only Argument In Support Of Its Meal Period "Waiver" Defense Is Fundamentally Flawed.

There has never been any genuine dispute that Garda did not provide its truck crew workers with meal breaks. Garda did not even oppose summary judgment on this claim. CP 2993 n.1. Its only defense has been that Plaintiffs "waived" the right to any meal period, and its only basis for this assertion has been the Collective Bargaining Agreements (CBAs) that Garda had with its "employee associations." CP 3818. The trial court dismissed this defense on summary judgment *three different times*. See CP 1270, 2731, 2987. Multiple grounds were offered to reject this defense, principally, that any waiver must be made individually, not collectively, and that Garda's CBAs generally did not contain "waivers" in

any event. *See* CP 1556-66. The Court of Appeals affirmed on the ground that an employee's choice to waive a meal period cannot be founded on language in a CBA. *Hill*, 198 Wn. App. at 354.

The possibility that the right to meal breaks can be waived does not appear in the rest and meal break rule, WAC 296-126-092, which uses the same mandatory language with respect to both rest and meal breaks.

Instead, it comes solely from L&I's Administrative Policy ES.C.6. That same Policy also *explicitly* says neither rest nor meal periods may be altered through CBAs, except in public sector and construction jobs.

Wash. Dept. Labor & Ind. Admin. Policy ES.C.6 ¶ 15:

15. May a Collective Bargaining Agreement negotiate meal and rest periods that are different from those required by WAC 296-126-092?

No. The requirements of RCW 49.12 and WAC 296-126-092, establish a minimum standard for working conditions for covered employees. Provisions of a collective bargaining agreement (CBA) covering specific requirements for meal and rest periods must be least equal to or more favorable than the provisions of these standards, with the exception of public employees and construction employees covered by a CBA.⁸

Thus, the Administrative Policy, which is the only source of Garda's "waiver" defense, is unequivocal that only individual employees may waive the right to a meal period, and unions may not. As the Court of

_

⁸ The legislature created the exceptions for construction and public employers in 2003 when it enacted 49.12.187 (containing, ironically, the same "savings clause" Garda relies on here, *see infra*).

Appeals observed, the Policy emphasizes "an individual's choice whether to waive meal periods." *Hill*, 198 Wn. App. at 352.

Garda cannot have it both ways; it cannot rely on the Policy for the proposition that meal periods can be waived, but avoid the Policy's parameters for a waiver. And, because the regulation itself does not permit *any* waivers, if the Policy is wrong, it is wrong that meal periods can be waived, not about the conditions it imposes for such a waiver.⁹

Ignoring all of this, Garda claims the Court of Appeals created a "new rule" that contradicts the "savings clause" in RCW 49.12.187 because it diminishes collective bargaining rights by allowing individuals to negotiate on a subject that unions cannot. As noted above, that very statute clearly refutes this argument, by carving out an exception allowing public sector and construction unions to negotiate different rest and meal breaks. This exception would be pointless and mere surplusage if all unions could vary or waive meal and rest breaks in CBAs. Washington law is clear that meal breaks cannot be waived in a CBA. 11

_

⁹ As Garda agrees, courts do not defer to an agency interpretation that is inconsistent with the statute or regulation it is interpreting. *See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 815, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

¹⁰ Garda fails to mention that it raised this argument for the first time on appeal, and the Court of Appeals declined to consider it. *Hill*, 198 Wn. App. at 353.

¹¹ Garda half-heartedly invokes "federal labor law principles" but its only authority contradicts its position. *See Metro. Life Ins. Co. v. Mass.*, 471 U.S. 724, 754-56 (1985) ("No incompatibility exists, therefore, between [the National

Garda offers no basis for review of the Court of Appeals' decision affirming dismissal of Garda's meal period waiver defense.

D. Plaintiffs Sought "On Duty" Meal Periods Under Washington Law, Not Under Garda's CBAs.

Garda contends Plaintiffs' meal break claims are preempted by

Section 301 of the Labor Management and Reporting Act (LMRA), 29

U.S.C. § 185(a). Section 301 preempts claims that are based on a CBA or whose resolution is "substantially dependent" on analysis of a CBA.

Caterpillar, Inc. v. Williams, 482 U.S. 386, 394 (1987). It does not preempt claims that are based on independent state law rights. Hisle v.

Todd Pac. Shipyards Corp., 151 Wn.2d 853, 864, 93 P.3d 108 (2004).

"Washington courts have consistently and repeatedly rejected the idea that reference to a CBA extinguishes a claim based on state law." Wash. State

Nurses Ass'n v. Sacred Heart Med. Ctr., 175 Wn.2d 822, 833, 287 P.3d

516 (2012). Plaintiffs' claims are based solely on state law and are completely independent of the CBAs.

Plaintiffs contend they were denied meal periods required by WAC 296-126-092. Under that regulation, "meal periods shall be on the employer's time when the employee is required by the employer to remain

Labor Relations Act] and state or federal legislation that imposes minimal substantive requirements on contract terms negotiated between parties to labor agreements.").

13

on duty on the premises or at a prescribed work site in the interest of the employer." WAC 296-126-092(1) (emphasis added).

Garda ignores this language, insisting there is no "independent right to a paid on-duty meal break" under Washington law, and asserting that WAC 296-126-092 only requires an unpaid "off-duty" meal period. Pet. at 16. It argues that because the Plaintiffs invoked the term "on duty meal periods," and because *some* of its CBAs say the employees agree to an "on duty meal period," Plaintiffs' claims depend on the CBAs and are preempted by Section 301. Yet, as shown by the rule quoted above, this is simply incorrect. Washington law clearly establishes the right to an "on duty" paid meal period when employees are required to remain on call or on the work premises. WAC 296-126-092(1); *Pellino*, 164 Wn. App. at 688.

Plaintiffs' claim in no way implicates Garda's CBAs, and its preemption argument is meritless.

E. Damages for Meal Period Violations Are "Wages."

Finally, Garda relies on the same false premise—that there is no state law right to an on-duty paid meal period—to argue that because it paid Plaintiffs during their missed meal breaks, the damages owed are not "wages" and are therefore outside the scope of the double damages statute,

RCW 49.52.070.¹² As noted above, employees *are* entitled to a paid, onduty meal period when they must remain on call or on the employer's premises. WAC 296-126-092.

Garda cites no authority for its argument, which directly contradicts *Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys.*, 146 Wn.2d 841, 849, 50 P.3d 256 (2002) (employees who miss paid rest breaks are entitled to "wages" as a remedy) as well as *Pellino*, 146 Wn. App. at 690 ("*Wingert* applies with equal force" to on-duty meal breaks). As explained in *Pellino*, an "on-duty" meal period is functionally the same as a rest break—the employees must receive a total of 30 minutes without engaging in work activities, and it must be paid time. *Id.* at 690. A missed "on duty" meal period triggers a back pay obligation by the employer. *Id.*

Garda's Petition for Review should be denied.

V. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF CROSS-PETITION

A. The Court Of Appeals Erred In Reversing The Trial Court's Award Of Double Damages For Denial Of Meal Breaks Because Garda's Waiver Defense Was Not Fairly Debatable.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's decision to award double damages to the class for Garda's denial of meal periods. As noted above, there was never any real dispute that Garda did not provide meal periods to its workers. CP 2993 n.1. Throughout this litigation it argued

15

Plaintiffs cross-petition for review of that decision below, however.

_

¹² It is not clear what relief Garda seeks by asserting this argument in this Court, because the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's award of double damages for meal period violations on another ground. *Hill*, 198 Wn. App. at 364.

only that the workers had waived the right to meal periods. The trial court rejected this affirmative defense *three times*, and the Court of Appeals agreed. CP 1270, 2731, 2987. Yet, the Court of Appeals concluded there was a bona fide dispute over the defense. Its decision conflicts with this Court's precedents and involves an issue of substantial public interest.

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